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Independent Auditor’s Report 
 
 
To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of 
Metro Global Holdings Corporation 
Mezzanine Floor, Renaissance Tower, 
Meralco Avenue, Pasig City 
 
 
Report on the Audits of the Separate Financial Statements 
 
Our Opinion 
 
In our opinion, the accompanying separate financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, 
the financial position of Metro Global Holdings Corporation (the “Company”) as at December 31, 2023 
and 2022, and its financial performance and cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with 
Philippine Financial Reporting Standards (PFRS). 
 
What we have audited 
 
The separate financial statements of the Company comprise:  
 

• the statements of financial position as at December 31, 2023 and 2022; 

• the statements of total comprehensive income for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022; 

• the statements of changes in equity for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022;  

• the statements of cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022; and  

• the notes to the financial statements, including material accounting policy information. 
 
Basis for Opinion 
 
We conducted our audits in accordance with Philippine Standards on Auditing (PSA). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the 
Audit of the Separate Financial Statements section of our report.  
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion. 
 
Independence 
 
We are independent of the Company in accordance with the Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants in the Philippines (Code of Ethics) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant 
to our audits of the financial statements in the Philippines, and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the Code of Ethics.  
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Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Separate 
Financial Statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the separate financial 
statements in accordance with PFRS, and for such internal control as management determines is 
necessary to enable the preparation of separate financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
In preparing the separate financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the 
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to 
liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 
 
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting 
process. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Separate Financial Statements 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the separate financial statements as 
a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s 
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a 
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with PSA will always detect a material misstatement 
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually 
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users 
taken on the basis of these separate financial statements. 
 
As part of an audit in accordance with PSA, we exercise professional judgment and maintain 
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 
 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the separate financial statements, whether 
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain 
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as 
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control. 
 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control. 

 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by management. 
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• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting 
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events 
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going 
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our 
auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the separate financial statements or, if such 
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit 
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may 
cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern. 
 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the separate financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

 
We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in  
internal control that we identify during our audit. 
 
We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant 
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and 
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, 
related safeguards. 
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Report on the Bureau of Internal Revenue Requirement 
 
Our audits were conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the basic separate financial 
statements taken as a whole. The supplementary information in Note 22 to the separate financial 
statements is presented for purposes of filing with the Bureau of Internal Revenue and is not a required 
part of the basic separate financial statements. Such supplementary information is the responsibility of 
management and has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in our audits of the basic 
separate financial statements. In our opinion, the supplementary information is fairly stated in all 
material respects in relation to the basic separate financial statements taken as a whole. 
 
The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Dennis M. Malco. 
 
 
Isla Lipana & Co. 
 
 
 
 
Dennis M. Malco 
Partner 
CPA Cert. No. 126035 
P.T.R. No. 0080034, issued on January 12, 2024, Makati City 
TIN 268-146-184 
BIR A.N. 08-000745-144-2022; issued on February 15, 2022; effective until February 14, 2025 
BOA/PRC Reg. No. 0142, effective until November 14, 2025 
 
 
Makati City 
April 30, 2024 
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Statement Required by Section 8-A,  
Revenue Regulations No. V-1 
 
 
To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of 
Metro Global Holdings Corporation 
Mezzanine Floor, Renaissance Tower, 
Meralco Avenue, Pasig City 
 
 
None of the partners of the firm have any financial interest in Metro Global Holdings Corporation or any 
family relationships with its officers or shareholders. 
 
The supplementary information on taxes and licenses for the year ended December 31, 2023 is 
presented in Note 22 to the financial statements. 
 
 
Isla Lipana & Co. 
 
 
 
 
Dennis M. Malco 
Partner 
CPA Cert. No. 126035 
P.T.R. No. 0080034, issued on January 12, 2024, Makati City 
TIN 268-146-184 
BIR A.N. 08-000745-144-2022; issued on February 15, 2022; effective until February 14, 2025 
BOA/PRC Reg. No. 0142, effective until November 14, 2025 
 
Makati City 
April 30, 2024 
 
 
 
 



Metro Global Holdings Corporation 

Statements of Financial Position 
As at December 31, 2023 and 2022 

(All amounts in Philippine Peso) 

Notes 2023 2022 

Assets 

Current assets 
Cash 2 12,016,578  787,546 
Non-trade receivables 3 24,080,788  18,569,428 
Other current assets 4 1,836,130  1,353,039 

Total current assets 37,933,496  20,710,013 

Non-current assets 
Due from related parties 3,16 895,551,980  894,232,703 
Financial assets at fair value through OCI 5 3,060,331,336  3,061,220,078 
Investment in associates 6 6,942,791  19,071,383 
Investment in subsidiaries  7 352,379,164  408,091 
Property and equipment 8 938,297 - 
Intangible asset, net 9 657,894  682,935 
Deferred tax asset  15  2,277,258  1,607,251 

Total non-current assets 4,319,078,720  3,977,222,441 

Total assets 4,357,012,216  3,997,932,454 

Liabilities and Stockholder’s Equity 

Current liability 
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities 10 411,886,437 404,072,711 

Non-current liabilities 
Due to a stockholder- FEMI 16 204,297,487  702,217,691 
Due to other related parties 16 240,676,586  253,200,262 

Total non-current liabilities 444,974,073  955,417,953 

Total liabilities 856,860,510   1,359,490,664 

Stockholders’ equity 
Share capital 11  1,998,553,181  1,998,553,181 
Additional paid-in capital   589,120,804  589,120,804 
Deposit for future stock subscription 16 852,000,000 - 
Fair value reserve 5 (473,162)  415,580 
Retained earnings  60,950,883  50,352,225 

Total stockholders’ equity 3,500,151,706  2,638,441,790 

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity 4,357,012,216  3,997,932,454 

(The notes on pages 1 to 35 are integral part of these financial statements) 



Metro Global Holdings Corporation 

Statements of Total Comprehensive Income 
For the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 

 (All amounts in Philippine Peso) 

Notes 2023 2022 

Share in profit of associates 6 6,140,438 19,526,017 
Depot royalty income 12 44,664,516    19,546,766 
General and administrative expenses 13 (43,052,367) (33,531,623) 

Income from operations 7,752,587 5,541,160 

Other income (expense) 
Dividend income 5 2,871,466 - 
Other expense, net 14 (25,395) (22,079) 

 2,846,071  (22,079) 

Income before tax  10,598,658  5,519,081 
Income tax expense - - 

Net income for the year 10,598,658  5,519,081 

Other comprehensive (loss)    
Item that will not be reclassified to profit or loss 

Fair value loss on financial assets at fair value through OCI 5 (888,742)  (1,070,973) 

Total comprehensive income for the year 9,709,916 4,448,108 

Basic and diluted earnings per share 17 0.0029  0.0018 

(The notes on pages 1 to 35 are integral part of these financial statements)



Metro Global Holdings Corporation 

Statements of Changes in Equity 

For the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 
(All amounts in Philippine Peso) 

Share capital 
(Note 11) 

Additional 
paid-in capital 

Deposit for 
future stock 
subscription 

(Note 16) 

Fair value 
reserve 
(Note 5) 

Retained 
earnings Total 

Balances at January 1, 2022 1,998,553,181 589,120,804 - 1,486,553 44,833,144 2,633,993,682 

Profit for the year - - - - 5,519,081 5,519,081 
Other comprehensive loss for the year - - - (1,070,973) - (1,070,973)

Total comprehensive income (loss) 
for the year - - - (1,070,973) 5,519,081 4,448,108 

Balances at December 31, 2022 1,998,553,181 589,120,804 - 415,580 50,352,225 2,638,441,790 

Transaction with owners 
Deposit for future stock subscription - - 852,000,000 - - 852,000,000 

Comprehensive income 
Profit for the year - - - - 10,598,658 10,598,658 
Other comprehensive loss for the year - - - (888,742) - (888,742) 

Total comprehensive income (loss) 
for the year - - - (888,742) 10,598,658 9,709,916 

Balances at December 31, 2023 1,998,553,181 589,120,804 852,000,000 (473,162) 60,950,883 3,500,151,706 

(The notes on pages 1 to 35 are integral part of these financial statements) 



Metro Global Holdings Corporation 

Statements of Cash Flows 
For the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 

 (All amounts in Philippine Peso) 

Notes 2023 2022 

Cash flows from operating activities 
 Income before tax  10,598,658  5,519,081 
Adjustment for: 

Unrealized foreign exchange gain  14 (2,588)  (22,449) 
Depreciation and amortization 8,9,13 63,930  27,317 
Impairment loss on investment in subsidiaries 7,14 28,927  33,742 
Interest income 2,14 (944)  (542) 
Dividend income 5 (2,871,466)  -   
Share in net income of associates 6 (6,140,438)  (19,526,017) 

Operating income (loss) before working capital changes 1,676,079  (13,968,868) 
(Increase) decrease in: 

Trade and other receivables (5,511,360)  (11,075,338) 
Other current assets (1,153,097)  (1,052,372) 
Due from related parties (1,319,277)  (91,242) 

Increase in: 
Accrued expense and other current liabilities 7,813,725 13,223,674 

Cash from (used in) operations 1,506,070  (12,964,146) 
Interest received 2 944  542 
Cash paid for income taxes - (23,744)

Net cash from (used in) operating activities 1,507,014  (12,987,348) 

Cash flows from investing activities 
Acquisition of property and equipment 8 (977,186) - 
Dividends received 5 2,871,466 - 

Net cash from investing activities 1,894,280 - 

Cash flows from financing activities 
Advances from related parties 16 5,745,354  17,340,879 
Advances from (settlement of amounts due to) a stockholder 16 2,079,796  (4,793,116) 

Net cash from financing activities 7,825,150 12,547,763 

Net increase (decrease) in cash 11,226,444 (439,585) 
Cash at January 1 787,546 1,204,682 
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes in cash 2,588  22,449 

Cash at December 31 12,016,578  787,546 

(The notes on pages 1 to 35 are integral part of these financial statements) 



Metro Global Holdings Corporation 

Notes to the Separate Financial Statements 
As at and for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022  
(In the notes, all amounts are shown in Philippine Peso unless otherwise stated) 

1 Corporate information 

1.1 Business information 

Metro Global Holdings Corporation (the “Company”) was incorporated as San Jose Oil Company, Inc. on 
September 17, 1954 and was listed on the Philippine Stock Exchange (PSE) on May 4, 1964 as an oil 
exploration company. It was reorganized in 1996 into a corporate vehicle that will pursue 
infrastructure-related investments and was renamed Fil-Estate Corporation. On September 9, 2004, the 
Philippines Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) approved the extension of the Company’s corporate 
life for another 50 years or until 2054. 

On May 30, 2014, the SEC approved the amendment of the Articles of Incorporation and By-Laws of the 
Company, changing its name from Fil-Estate Corporation to Metro Global Holdings Corporation. The 
amendments were intended to identify the group of companies under the “Metro Group” and establish the 
affiliation of the Company with its affiliate infrastructure companies, which likewise had the word “Metro”  
in their corporate names. 

The trading of Company’s shares of stock at the PSE has been voluntarily suspended since  
March 20, 2007 to allow the Company to re-align its business and explore new strategic directions as 
disclosed in Note 1.2. 

The Company’s immediate and ultimate parent company is Fil-Estate Management, Inc. (FEMI), a company 
organized and existing under the laws of the Philippines. The total shares issued are held by the following 
shareholders as at December 31: 

2023 2022 

Fil-estate Management, Inc. 87.98% 87.98% 
PCD Nominee Corporation 5.03% 5.03% 
Alakor Securities Corporation 3.34% 3.34% 
Bank of Commerce Trust Services Group 2.16% 2.16% 
Others 1.49% 1.49% 

100.00% 100.00% 

The Company’s registered office address, which is also its principal place of business, is at Mezzanine Floor, 
Renaissance Centre, Meralco Avenue, Pasig City. The Company has 11 employees as at December 31, 2023 
(2022 -10). 

1.2 Expansion of the Company’s primary purpose 

On November 22, 2018, the stockholders approved the amendment of the Articles of Incorporation to include 
in the primary purpose investment in business engaged in solar, wind, and other renewable energy generation 
facilities. The proposed amendment will allow the Company to expand its investment into a business engaged 
in renewable energy generation facilities, a growth area the Company intends to pursue. 

On February 1, 2024, the Securities and Exchange Commission approved the amendment of its Articles of 

Incorporation to allow the Company to invest in businesses engaged in the development of renewable energy 

through solar farms, wind farms, waste-to-energy and other energy projects. 
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1.3 Approval of financial statements 
 
The accompanying financial statements of the Company were approved and authorized for issuance by the 
Company’s Board of Directors (BOD) on April 29, 2024.  
 
2  Cash in banks 
 
Cash in banks as at December 31, 2023 amounted to P12,016,578 (2022 - P787,546). These accounts 
generally earn interest at rates based on daily bank deposit rates of 0.025% - 0.050%. Interest income earned 
from cash in banks amounted to P944 in 2023 (2022 - P542) (Note 14). 
 
3 Non-trade receivables; Due from related parties 
 
Non-trade receivables amounting to P24,080,788 (2022 - P18,569,428) pertains to the royalty income from 
depot developments in TriNoma and billed to North Triangle Depot Commercial Corporation (NTDCC) (Note 
12). These are short-term, unguaranteed, unsecured, non-interest bearing and collectible in cash with usual 
credit terms of 60 days.  
 
Due from related parties (non-current asset) as at December 31 consist of: 
 

 Note 2023 2022 

Due from related parties 16   
Monumento Rail Transit Corporation (Monumento Rail)  5,314,935 5,314,935 
Metro Renewable Transport Solutions, Inc. (MRTSI)  2,748,736 1,429,459 
Metro Rail Transit Holdings, Inc. (MRTHI)  117,361  117,361 
Metro Rail Transit Holdings II, Inc. (MRTHII)   892,685,883  892,685,883 

  900,866,915  899,547,638 
Allowance for impairment    (5,314,935)  (5,314,935) 

  895,551,980  894,232,703  

 
There is no movement in allowance for impairment of due from related parties for the years ended  
December 31, 2023 and 2022.  
 

Critical accounting estimates and judgment: Recoverability of non-trade receivables and due from related 
parties 
 
Provision for impairment of non-trade receivables and due from related parties is calculated using expected 
credit losses (ECL). ECL are unbiased probability-weighted estimates of credit losses which are determined 
by evaluating a range of possible outcomes and taking into account past events, current conditions and 
assessment of future economic conditions. 
 
The Company has used relevant historical information and loss experience to determine the probability of 
default of non-trade receivables and incorporated forward-looking information based on certain 
macroeconomic factors such as gross domestic products and inflation rate. Any change in the Company’s 
assessment of the collectability of receivables could impact the recorded carrying amounts of receivables and 
related allowance for impairment.    
 
Further, management evaluates specific accounts under non-trade receivables and due from related parties 
who are unable to meet their financial obligations. In these cases, management uses judgment based on the 
best available facts and circumstances, including but not limited to, the length of relationship with the debtor 
and the debtors’ payment history. The net carrying amounts of non-trade receivables and due from related 
parties at the end of the reporting period and the amount and timing of recorded expenses would therefore 
differ based on actual experience and changes in judgments made. 
 
Based on management’s assessment, management believes that the net carrying amount of non-trade 
receivables and due from related parties are recoverable. 
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4 Other current assets 
 
Other current assets as at December 31 consist of the following:  
 

  2023 2022 

Creditable withholding tax   1,476,130 1,116,949 
Advances to suppliers  360,000 - 
Input VAT  - 236,090 

  1,836,130 1,353,039 

 
Creditable withholding tax is related to the depot royalty income from NTDCC (Note 12). 
 
5 Financial assets at fair value through OCI 
 
Financial assets at fair value through OCI as at December 31 consist of: 
 

   2023 2022 

Unquoted equity securities  3,058,238,916 3,058,238,916  
Quoted equity securities   2,092,420  2,981,162  

  3,060,331,336 3,061,220,078  

 
5.1 Unquoted equity securities 
 
Unquoted equity securities as at December 31, 2023 consist of investments in MRTHI and MRTHII. The 
Company’s ownership interests in MRTHI and MRTHII as at December 31 are as follows: 
 

Investee Interest Indirect Interest Effective Interest Nature of Business 

MRTHI 18.6% - 18.6% Holding Company 
MRTHII 12.7% 15.8% 28.5% Holding Company 

 
MRTHI owns 84.9% interest in MRTH II while MRTHII wholly owns Metro Rail Transit Corporation (MRTC), 

which was awarded by the Philippine Government, acting through the Department of Transportation and 

Communication (DOTC), the Build, Lease and Transfer (BLT) Agreement to build, lease, and transfer a  

16.9-kilometer rail transit system in Metro Manila, known as LRTS Phase I. The earnings of MRTC are derived 

from lease financing income relating to equity rentals received from the DOTC as defined in the BLT 

Agreement. 

 

Critical accounting estimates, assumptions, and judgment: Measurement of unquoted equity instruments - 
cost as an estimate of fair value 
 
As required by PFRS 9, all equity investments in scope of PFRS 9 are to be measured at fair value in the 
statement of financial position, with value changes recognized either in profit or loss or other comprehensive 
income. PFRS 9 further provides that cost might be used as a measure of fair value where cost represents the 
best estimate of fair value. Upon the adoption of PFRS 9, the Company has assessed that the cost of 
investments in MRTHI and MRTHII amounting to P3,058,238,916 as at December 31, 2023 and 2022 
represents the best estimate of fair value of those investments. 
 
The Company assesses whether the cost is the best estimate of fair value of investments in MRTHI and 
MRTHII. In making the assessment, the Company checks whether there are events or circumstances that 
might indicate that cost might not be representative of fair value of the investees, including significant change 
in the investees’ performance and operations, as well significant change in the economic environment in 
which the investees operate. The Company also considers costs as the best measure of fair value where 
more recent available information is insufficient to determine fair value; or where there is a wide range of 
possible fair value measurements, and cost represents the best estimate of fair value within that range. 
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Any change in the Company’s assessment of the best estimate of fair value of investments in MRTHI and 
MRTHII could impact the recorded carrying amount of financial assets at fair value through OCI and related 
fair value gains or losses recognized in other comprehensive income. 
 
As at December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company has assessed that the cost of investments in MRTHI and 
MRTHII represents the best estimate of fair value of those investments. In addition, the Company has 
assessed that the carrying amount of the investments in MRTHI and MRTHII are recoverable in full and can 
be realized in the future through the Company’s share in the benefits arising from the capacity expansion 
projects to be undertaken by MRTC. Notwithstanding the sale of future share distributions pursuant to  
“Sale of future share distributions'' discussed in (a) below, the Company continues to hold on to the legal 
rights over the shares of stock in MRTHI and MRTHII. Further, the Company holds a sell option to use the 
shares of stocks of MRTHI and MRTH II to pay-off its net advances from FEMI pursuant to the  
“Letter of Agreement” as discussed in (b) below. 
 
The Company’s unquoted financial assets, pertaining to investments in MRTHI and MRTHII, are under  
Level 3 fair value category. The cost of the investments represents the best estimate of the fair value of the 
investments as at reporting date. Therefore, the higher the cost of investments, the higher is the related fair 
value. 
 
(a) Sale of future share distributions 
 
In 2002, the Company and other participating shareholders of MRTHI and MRTHII (collectively referred to as 
the ‘Sellers’, entered into Sale Agreements where they sold all future share distributions arising from the 
equity rental payments (ERP) of the LRTS Phase I Project of MRTC in exchange for Original Issuance 
Discount Bonds (OID Bonds). 
 
The transaction is covered by several agreements that provide the link between share distributions arising 
from the ERP of the LRTS Phase I Project of MRTC and payments to the Noteholders. These agreements:  
(a) facilitate the timely payment of the Sellers’ share of the ERP of the LRTS Phase I Project of MRTC 
ensuring that the right to receive their share in the ERP has been legally independent of the Sellers to the 
Noteholders, (b) ensure the flow of rental payments independent of the Sellers, (c) bind the Sellers to cause 
the timely collection of rental payments and to cause MRTC to perform its obligations, and (d) prevent the 
Sellers from selling their rights in MRTC for as long as the Notes are outstanding. Accordingly, the stock 
certificates of the Company in MRTHI and MRTHII are under the custody of a trustee and were pledged to 
MRT III. 
 
MRTC accounts for the lease payments from DOTC under finance lease where lease financing income is 
recognized using a constant periodic rate of return on the net investment. Future share distribution sold under 
the Agreements pertains to the Company’s share in the ERPs of the LRTS Phase 1 Project of MRTC. 
 
Notwithstanding the sale of future share distributions, the Company continues to hold on to the legal rights 
over the shares of stock in MRTHI and MRTHII in compliance with the various agreements related to the sale 
of share of future share distributions mentioned above, as well as the Company’s obligation under the 
Agreement of MRTC with DOTC whereby the original shareholders of MRTHI and MRTHII are precluded from 
transferring their equity interest in MRTHI and MRTHII until the end of the BLT Agreement in July 2025. 
Accordingly, any additional variable ERP to be received by MRTHI and MRTHII through MRTC from DOTC in 
the future and any benefits arising from the residual rights in the expansion projects shall still accrue to the 
Company and the other shareholders. 
 
(b) Letter of agreement 
 
On August 18, 2005, the Company and FEMI entered into a “Letter of Agreement”, whereby FEMI has agreed 
to grant the Company the sole option to assign to FEMI its equity interests in MRTHI and MRTHII as 
settlement of the Company’s liabilities to FEMI, included in ‘Due to a stockholder’ account in the statements of 
financial position, and any additional advances or interest which FEMI may charge to the Company in relation 
to the said advances. Under the “Letter of Agreement,” should the Company opt to sell the said investments to 
third party or parties in the future, FEMI has the right of first refusal to purchase the said investments at its 
prevailing market value. 
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(c)  Dividend income 
 
On December 13, 2021, MRTHII declared dividends to its shareholders, of which P2,606,190,497 pertains to 
the Company’s share. The dividend income was recognized as part of other income in the statement of total 
comprehensive income for the year ended December 31, 2021. The dividends were discharged/settled as 
follows: 
 
(1) P147,706,848 was offset and eliminated against the liability to MRTHII, representing outstanding cash 

advances received from MRTHII, presented under due to other related parties in the statement of financial 
position;  

(2) P1,567,446,876 was applied against liability from sale of future share distributions shown as a reduction 
of investment in MRTHII. Pursuant to the Sale of future share distributions agreement entered by the 
Company and other participating shareholders of MRTHI and MRTHII as described in (a) above, the 
Company recognized P1,567,446,876 liability from the sale of the future share distribution from the MRTC 
project as a reduction of investment in MRTHI and MRTHII. The total carrying amount of investment in 
MRTHI and MRTHII after the dividend transaction amounted to P3,058,238,916 as at December 31, 2023; 
and 2022 

(3) The remaining amount of P891,036,773 will be settled in cash and presented as dividend receivable 
under due from related parties (Note 16). The amount is not expected to be collected within 
12 months from the end of the reporting period, thus presented as part of non-current asset in statement 
of financial position. 

 
5.2 Quoted equity securities 

 
Quoted equity securities consist of investments in domestic companies listed in the Philippine Stock 
Exchange and whose fair values are based on quoted market prices at the reporting date (Level 1 fair value 
hierarchy). 
 
The movements of the account for the years ended December 31 are as follows: 
 

 2023 2022 

Acquisition cost 2,565,582 2,565,582 

Cumulative change in fair value   
 Beginning of the year 415,580 1,486,553 
 Change in the fair value during the year (888,742)  (1,070,973) 

 End of the year (473,162) 415,580 

 2,092,420 2,981,162 

 
The changes in fair value of quoted equity securities are presented as part of other comprehensive income in 
the statement of total comprehensive income. 
 
During 2023, the Company received P2,871,466 from its investments in quoted equity securities. There is no 
similar transaction in 2022. 
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6 Investment in associates 
 
Investment in associates as at December 31 consists of:  
 

  
Country of 

incorporation 

Ownership  
interest Main activity and registered place of 

business 2023 2022 

MRT Development 
Corporation 
(MRTDC) 

Philippines 15.79% 15.79% Development of commercial premises in the 
depot and air space in the light rail transit 
system, its lease or sublease thereof, and 
the sale of development rights of stations.  
 
Registered address is at 2nd floor, The 
Renaissance Centre, Meralco Avenue,  
Pasig City 

Monumento Rail 
Transit Corporation 
(Monumento Rail) 

Philippines 28.47% 28.47% Build, lease, and maintain a railway transit in 
Metro Manila, and to perform such other 
activities as may be necessary and desirable 
in the pursuit of the  
above-mentioned activities. As at  
December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company 
has no commercial activity. 
 
Registered address is at 6th floor, The 
Belvedere Tower, San Miguel Avenue, 
Ortigas Center, Pasig City. 

 
The carrying value of investment in associates as at December 31, 2023 consists of investment in MRTDC 
amounting to P6,892,041(2022 - P19,071,383). As at December 31, 2023 and 2022, Monumento Rail has no 
commercial activity and its investment account is carried at nil. 
 

The movement of investment in associates for the years ended December 31 are as follows: 

 

 Note 2023 2022 

At January 1  19,071,383 13,667,401 
Share in net income of MRTDC 16 6,140,438 19,526,017 
Dividends from MRTDC  (18,269,030) (14,122,035) 

At December 31  6,942,791 19,071,383 

 
On December 20, 2018, the Company entered into a Deed of Assignment with Fil-Estate Properties, Inc. (FEPI) 
to acquire the 1,579 shares representing 15.79% equity ownership of FEPI in MRTDC for P1,894,000 
consideration. 
 
MRTDC has exclusive rights to all commercial developments along the MRT-3 System, including in and above 
the 13 Stations, commercial leasing rights in the 13 Stations, advertising rights, development of the air space 
above all the 13 stations, and all other commercial activities with the entire MRT-3 System. 
 
There are no significant restrictions on the ability of MRTDC to transfer funds to the Company in the form of 
cash dividends or repayment of loans or advances. 
 
On November 22, 2022, MRTDC declared dividends to its shareholder amounting to P89,550,000, of which 
P14,122,035 pertains to the Company’s share. The dividends were applied against the liability to MRTDC, 
representing outstanding cash advances received from MRTDC presented under due to other related parties 
in the statement of financial position (Note 16). 
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On December 7, 2023, MRTDC declared dividends to its shareholder amounting to P115,700,000, of which 

P18,269,030 pertains to the Company’s share. The dividends were applied against the liability to MRTDC, 

representing outstanding cash advances received from MRTDC presented under due to other related parties 

in the statement of financial position (Note 16). 

 
The summarized financial information of a material associate, MRTDC, as at and for the years ended 
December 31 are as follows: 
 
Statements of financial position 
 

 2023 2022 

Current assets 425,956,336  499,479,521  
Non-current assets 39,719,678  12,402,602  
Current liabilities (359,805,528)  (236,756,220) 
Non-current liabilities (60,246,261)  (151,305,905) 

Net assets 45,624,225  123,819,998  

 
Statements of total comprehensive income 
 

 2023 2022 

Revenue 308,098,954 381,632,097 
Net income  38,888,144 123,660,654 
Total comprehensive income  38,888,144  123,660,654  

 
The information above reflects the amounts presented in the financial statements of MRTDC whose 
accounting policies are consistent with the Company’s accounting policies. 
 

Reconciliation of summarized financial information 

 
Reconciliation of the summarized financial information presented, to the carrying amount of the Company’s 
interest in associates, is as follows: 
 

 2023 2022 

Net assets 45,624,225  123,819,998  
Equity interest 15.79% 15.79% 

Share of net assets 7,204,065  19,551,178  
Other equity adjustment (261,274) (479,795) 

Carrying value, December 31 6,942,791 19,071,383 

 
Critical accounting judgment: Recoverability of investment in associates 
 
The carrying value of the investment in associates is reviewed and assessed for impairment whenever events 
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. Changes in those 
management assessment and judgment could have a significant effect on the carrying value of investment in 
associates and the amount and timing of recorded provision for any period. 
 
Based on management’s assessment, there are no events or circumstances which might indicate that the 
carrying value of investment in associates as at December 31, 2023 and 2022 are not recoverable. 
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7 Investment in subsidiaries 
 
Investment in subsidiaries for the years  ended December 31 are as follows: 
 

  

Ownership 
interest 

Balances 

2023 2022 2023 2022 

Investment in subsidiaries, at cost:     
MGHC Royal Holdings Corporation (MGHC Royal) 99% 99% 612,738 612,738 
Metro Renewable Transport Solutions, Inc. (MRTSI) 100% 100% 625,001 625,001 
Metro Solar Power Solutions Inc. (MSPSI) 100% - 352,000,000 - 

   353,237,739 1,237,739 

Allowance for impairment:     
MGHC Royal Holdings Corporation (MGHC Royal)   (233,574) (204,647) 
Metro Renewable Transport Solutions, Inc. (MRTSI)   (625,001) (625,001) 

   (858,575) (829,648) 

Investment in subsidiaries, net   352,379,164 408,091 

 
MGHC Royal 
 
On May 19, 2017, the Company incorporated MGHC Royal and contributed a total of P2,499,500 for  
99% ownership interest. MGHC Royal was organized and established as a domestic corporation to engage in 
the business of investing, purchasing, or otherwise acquiring, and owning, holding, using, selling, assigning, 
transferring, pledging, exchanging, or otherwise disposing of real and personal property of every kind and 
description, including shares of stocks, bonds, debentures, notes, evidences of indebtedness, and other 
securities of obligation of any other corporation or corporations associations or associations, domestic or 
foreign, for whatever lawful purpose or purposes. MGHC Royal’s registered office address and place of 
business is at Mezzanine Floor, Renaissance Tower, Meralco Avenue, Pasig City. 
 
MRTSI 
 
On October 23, 2020, the Company incorporated MRTSI and contributed a total of P2,500,000 for  
99% ownership interest. MRTSI was organized and established as a domestic corporation to engage in 
infrastructure development or providing services in relation with and in connection thereto, including but not 
limited to the construction of whatever kind and nature and for whatever purpose, buildings, roads, bridges, 
railways, ports, highways and other passages and facilities for transportation and communication. Its registered 
office address and place of business is at Mezzanine Floor, Renaissance Towers, Meralco Avenue, Barangay 
Ugong, Pasig City 1604. 
 
MSPSI 
 
MSPSI is a company registered with the SEC on September 28, 2016 primary established primarily to 
construct, erect, assemble, commission and maintain power-generating plants and related facilities for the 
conversion of renewable energy into usable form fit for electricity generation and distribution.  
 
On October 10, 2016, MSPSI’s Board of Directors approved the amendment of its Articles of Incorporation 
changing the corporate name to Metro Solar Power Solutions, Inc. from Metro Solar Power Energy Ventures, 
Inc. The amendment was approved by the Securities and Exchange Commission on January 9, 2017. Its 
registered address, which is also its principal place of business, is located at the Mezzanine Floor, Renaissance 
Tower, Meralco Avenue, Pasig City. 
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The movement in cost of investments in subsidiaries for the years ended December 31 are as follows: 
 

  2023 2022 

At January 1  1,237,739 1,237,739 
Additions  352,000,000 - 

At December 31  353,237,739 1,237,739 

 
Acquisition of MSPSI 

 

On September 24, 2018, the Board authorized the Company to enter into a Memorandum of Agreement with 
FEMI whereby the Company agreed to the subscription of FEMI to 750 million common shares of the capital 
stock of the Company at par value of P1 per share to be issued out of the planned capital increase in the 
authorized capital stock of the Company from P2 billion divided into 2 billion common shares with par value of 
P1 per share to P5 billion divided into 5 billion common shares with a par value of P1 per share resulting to a 
P3 billion increase in capital stock of the Company. 
 
Pursuant to the Memorandum of Agreement, the subscription price of P750 million was to be paid in the 
following manner: 
 

a) The amount of P500 million was to be paid by the assignment of FEMI’s advances to the Company 
amounting to P500 million (Note 16); and 

b) The amount of P250 million was to be paid in a manner to be agreed upon by FEMI and the  
Company upon approval of the above-mentioned capital increase. 

 
During the pendency of the Company’s application for increase in capital stock at the SEC, on August 23, 2023, 
the Company and FEMI entered into a Deed of Assignment whereby the parties agreed that the balance of 
P250 million be paid by FEMI via assignment of FEMI to the Company of FEMI’s 100% shareholdings in 
MSPSI, with an enterprise value of P352 million as appraised by an independent third-party appraiser. As 
stipulated in the Deed of Assignment, FEMI absolutely and irrevocably assigned, transferred and conveyed in 
favor of the Company all of FEMI’s rights, title and interest to 100% of the issued and outstanding shares of 
MSPSI consisting of 250,000 common shares with par value of P100 per share in full payment of the remaining 
P250 million balance out of the P750 million subscription of FEMI. The excess in consideration received by the 
Company upon acceptance of the MSPSI shares amounting to P102 million was agreed to be booked as 
deposit in future stock subscription of FEMI to the new share issuances of the Company in the future.  
 
As a result of the transactions above, the Company has gained control over MSPSI effective  
August 23, 2023 and recognized an addition to investment in subsidiary amounting to P352 million with a 
corresponding increase in deposit for future stock subscription (Note 16).  
 
During November 2023, the Company has paid and completed the required filings with the SEC regarding its 
application for increase in capitalization. On February 1, 2024, the SEC approved the increase in the capital 
stock of the Parent Company from P2 billion to P5 billion, divided into 5 billion shares with par value of P1 per 
share. Subsequently, on April 8, 2024, the SEC approved the valuation of the 250,000 Metro Solar shares in the 
amount of P250 million as payment by FEMI for the issuance by the Parent Company of 250 million common 
shares at par value of P1 per share in favor of FEMI. 
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The movement in allowance for impairment for the years ended December 31 are as follows: 
 

 Note 2023 2022 

At January 1  829,648 795,906 
Impairment loss 14 28,927  33,742  

At December 31  858,575  829,648  

 
The Company’s investments in subsidiaries are carried at cost less allowance for impairment. The carrying 
value is reviewed and assessed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that 
the carrying amount may not be recoverable. Due to recurring losses of MGHC Royal, the Company 
recognized an impairment loss for its investment in MGHC Royal amounting to P28,927 for the year ended 
December 31, 2023 (2022 - P33,742). No further impairment loss was recognized for the Company’s 
investment in MRTSI as its investment account is carried at nil due to MRTSI’s capital deficiency  
(2022 - nil). The impairment loss is recognized under other income (expense), net in the statement of total 
comprehensive income. The recoverable amount of MGHC Royal and MRTSI was determined by reference to 
the fair value less cost of disposal. Since the measurement of recoverable amount of MGHC Royal and 
MRTSI involves use of significant unobservable input, the fair value was classified as a Level 3 fair value.  
The fair value less cost of disposal was determined using fair values of net assets of MGHC Royal and 
MRTSI, which consists mainly of financial assets. The disclosure of unobservable inputs and sensitivity 
analysis were not provided as management assesses that the amount of investment in subsidiaries and 
related impairment loss are immaterial. 
 
8 Property and equipment  

 
Movements in property and equipment, consisting of transportation equipment, for the year ended December 
31, 2023 are as follows:  
 

Opening net carrying values - 
  Additions 977,186 
 Depreciation (Note 13) (38,889) 

Closing net carrying values 938,297 

At December 31, 2023  
Cost 977,186 
Accumulated depreciation (38,889) 

Net carrying values 938,297 

 
There are no transactions and balances related to property and equipment for the year ended December 31, 
2022. 
 
9 Intangible asset, net 
 
Depot royalty rights 
 
On August 22, 2006, the Board of Directors of Monumento Rail Transit Corporation (Monumento Rail) 
approved the redemption of its redeemable preferred shares through the assignment of its right to receive 
Depot Royalties to the holders of redeemable preferred shares pro-rata to their shareholdings. On  
December 17, 2014, Monumento Rail and the Company executed the Redemption and Deeds of Assignment 
of the latter’s redeemable preferred shares, giving the Company a pro-rata interest on the Depot Royalty 
Rights to the extent of an aggregate of 28.47%, representing the preferred shareholdings held by the 
Company. 
 
As a result of the redemption, the Company recognized a Depot royalty right intangible asset which 
represents the Company’s right to a 28.47% share in the depot royalties with respect to improvements 
constructed on the 16-hectare Depot located at North Triangle EDSA and rental income from the commercial 
center known as TriNoma Mall. As successor-in-interest, the Company is entitled to receive 28.47% of 
royalties corresponding to 5% of the gross receipts of the rental income (Note 12) from 8.3 hectare 
commercial center and 5% of the gross proceeds of sale or leases on improvements constructed on the lot 
pads less management fees and general and administrative expenses.  
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On December 14, 2023, the Company signed an Alternative Compliance Agreement with Global Estate 

Resorts Inc., and NTDCC, which calls for the payment by NTDCC of depot royalty income due on the 

development of various lot pads located in North Avenue, Quezon City, which should have been completed in 

year 2019.  In view of the delay and non-completion of the development of said lot pads, NTDCC agrees to 

pay the Company additional compensation in 2023 to cover the projected depot royalty income due from 2019 

to 2023, and thereafter pay a yearly depot royalty income from 2024-2026 based on the agreed schedule. 

 

The cost of depot royalty rights upon initial recognition amounted to P901,471 which is equivalent to the value 
of the Company’s investment in the redeemable preferred shares of Monumento Rail consisting of 18,029,417 
shares. The intangible asset was assigned with a useful life of 33 years commencing from 2014 up to 2047 or 
the expiration of development rights as provided for in the Redemption and Deed of Assignment. 
 
The movements of depot royalty rights for the years ended December 31 are as follows: 
 

At January 1, 2022  

Cost 901,471 

Accumulated amortization (191,219) 

Net carrying amount 710,252 

For the year ended December 31, 2022  

Opening net carrying amount  710,252 

Amortization (Note 13)  (27,317) 

Closing net carrying amount  682,935  

At December 31, 2022  

Cost  901,471  

Accumulated amortization  (218,536) 

Net carrying amount  682,935  

For the year ended December 31, 2023  

Opening net carrying amount 682,935 

Amortization (Note 13) (25,041) 

Closing net carrying amount 657,894 

At December 31, 2023  

Cost  901,471 

Accumulated amortization  (243,577) 

Net carrying amount 657,894 

 
10 Accrued expenses and other current liabilities  
 
Accrued expenses and other liabilities as at December 31 consist of the following: 
 

  2023 2022 

Advances from MPIC  350,000,000 350,000,000 
Accrued expenses  58,352,488 53,062,761 
Output VAT payable  2,208,927 - 
Payable to regulatory agencies  1,325,022 1,009,950 

  411,886,437 404,072,711 
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A. Advances from MPIC  
 
The amount pertains to deposit received from Metro Pacific Investment Corporation (MPIC) pursuant to the 
“Cooperation Agreement”, as described below, entered into by the Company and Fil-Estate Companies with 
MPIC. 
 
Cooperation agreement 

 
On November 12, 2010, the Company, Fil-Estate Properties, Inc. (FEPI) and FEMI (collectively termed as the 
‘Fil-Estate Companies’) entered into a Cooperation Agreement with Metro Pacific Investment Corporation 
(MPIC) relating to the Fil-Estate Companies’ rights and interests in the MRT Companies. The cooperation has 
the following objectives: (i) explore solutions that will enable the expansion of the MRT-3 system through 
financially and legally viable means, and (ii) to transfer the interests of the Fil-Estate Companies in the MRT 
Companies, subject to obtaining the necessary consents from the relevant parties. Under the Cooperation 
Agreement, the Fil-Estate Companies shall appoint MPIC as its attorney-in-fact in connection with the 
exercise of the rights and interests of the Fil-Estate Companies in the MRT Companies. MPIC and Fil-Estate 
Companies are still in the process of discussing possible scenarios on how to implement the transactions 
contemplated by the parties when they entered into the Cooperation Agreement. The completion and 
consummation of the transaction contemplated by the parties is subject to certain conditions, which as at 
December 31, 2023 has not yet occurred.  
 
As the Company does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the amount for at least 12 months 
from reporting date, the amount was classified as current liability as at December 31, 2023 and 2022. 
 
B. Accrued expenses 
 
The account consists mainly of accrual for payroll and professional fees, including legal, consulting and audit 
fees, and other general and administrative expenses. The average credit period on purchases of goods and 
services from suppliers is 30 to 60 days. 
 
11 Equity 
 
Share capital 
 
The details of share capital as at December 31, 2023 and 2022 are as follows:  
 

Authorized share capital  2,000,000,000 

Subscribed share capital  2,000,000,000 
Less: Subscription receivable   (1,446,819) 

Issued and subscribed share capital  1,998,553,181 
Par value per share  1 

Amount of share capital  1,998,553,181  

 
Track record of registration of securities 
 

Date of SEC approval 
Authorized 

shares 
Number of shares 

issued Issue/offer price 

January 22, 1998 300,000,000 299,850,000 1.00 
December 11, 2000 1,700,000,000 700,000,000 1.00 
December 16, 2013 - 800,000,000 1.00 
September 4, 2014 - 200,150,000 1.00 

 2,000,000,000 2,000,000,000  

 
a. On January 22, 1998, the SEC approved the declassification of Class A and B common shares to a single 

class of common shares, and the change in par value of 300 million authorized common shares from 
P0.01 per share to P1 per share. Each share of stock entitles the person in whose name it is registered in 
the books of the Company to one vote, provided the shares have not been declared delinquent. 
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b. On December 11, 2000, the SEC approved the increase in authorized capital stock from 
P300 million, divided into 30 billion shares with a par value P0.01 per share, to P2.0 billion divided into  

       2 billion shares with a par value P1 per share. 
 

Fil-Estate Management, Inc. (FEMI) subscribed to 700 million shares in exchange for the assignment of 

its interests in the MRTHI and Metro Rail Transit Corp. Limited with an aggregate carrying value of  

P1.3 billion. As a result, share capital of P700 million with a par value of P1.00 per share was recognized, 

with the excess credited to additional paid-in capital. 

 
c. On December 16, 2013, the SEC approved the conversion of a portion of the Company’s liabilities to 

FEMI amounting to P800 million into equity shares totaling 800.0 million shares at P1.00 par value. 
 

d. On September 4, 2014, the SEC approved the conversion of a portion of the Company’s liabilities to FEMI 
amounting to P200.15 million into equity shares totaling 200.15 million shares at P1.00 par value. The 
conversion resulted in FEMI owning 87.98% shareholding of the Company. 

 
Planned increase in authorized capital stock 
 
As indicated in Note 1, the Company has completed its application for increase in capitalization with the SEC 
from P2 billion to P5 billion, divided into 5 billion shares with par value of P1 per share. On February 1, 2024, 
the SEC approved such application. 
 
During the pendency of the application of increase in capital stock from P2 billion to P5 billion, at the Annual 
Stockholder's Meeting held on October 12, 2023, the stockholders approved to further increase the authorized 
capital stock of the Company, from P5 billion divided into 5 billion shares with a par value of P1 per share to 
P10 billion divided into 10 billion shares with a par value of P1 per share. The stockholders also approved the 
subscription of FEMI to P1.25 billion, equivalent to 1.25 billion shares at P1 par value, which subscription is to 
be partially paid to the extent of P312 million via offset of Company’s debt to FEMI in the amount of P186 
million, the assignment of FEMI’s deposit for future subscription in the amount of P102 million and the amount 
of P24 million to be paid in cash.  
 
12 Depot royalty income 
 
Depot royalty income for the year ended December 31, 2023 amounting to P44,664,516 (2022 - P19,546,766) 
represents the Company’s 28.47% share of 5% of the gross receipts of the rental income from TriNoma 
commercial center owned and operated by NTDCC. The amount of royalty income is recognized over time as 
NTDCC earns rental income from the commercial center. 

 
13 General and administrative expenses 
 
This account consists of the following: 
 

 Note 2023 2022 

Salaries and wages   17,975,910   15,982,031  
Fees  6,333,308 281,335 
Transportation and travel    5,913,806   4,997,611  
IT expense  4,882,959 3,545,487 
Professional and retainer’s fee  3,245,000 1,851,021 
13th month pay   1,770,532   2,095,532  
Taxes and filing fees   1,528,332   2,402,553  
Directors’ fee   396,757   507,895  
Legal   97,550   1,004,226  
Depreciation 8  38,889  - 
Amortization 9  25,041   27,317  
Others  844,283 836,615 

  43,052,367 33,531,623 
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Fees include SEC payment for the amended articles of incorporation in line with the increase of authorized 
capital stock and expansion of primary purpose amounting to P6,001,000. There is no similar transaction in 
2022.  
 
Others include advertising and promotions, trainings, registration fees, bank charges, office supplies, food 
expense, insurance and utilities. 
 

14 Other expenses, net 

 
Other expenses, net for the years ended December 31 consists of the following: 
 

 Notes 2023 2022 

Foreign exchange gains, net  2,588 11,121 
Interest income  2 944 542 
Impairment loss on investment in subsidiary 7 (28,927) (33,742) 

  (25,395) (22,079) 

 
Foreign exchange gain, net relates to the translation and transactions in respect of the Company’s  
USD-denominated cash account. Details of foreign exchange gain, net as at December 31 are as follows: 
 

  2023 2022 

Realized foreign exchange loss  - (11,328) 
Unrealized foreign exchange gain  2,588 22,449 

  2,588 11,121 

 
15 Income taxes 
 
Corporate Recovery and Tax Incentives for Enterprises Act (CREATE)  
 
On March 26, 2021, the President of the Republic of the Philippines signed into law Republic Act  
No. 11534 or the CREATE) Act, which is the reconciled version of the Bicameral Conference Committee. It 
settled the disagreeing provisions of House Bill No. 4157 and Senate Bill No. 1357. The CREATE Act was 
previously known as the Corporate Income Tax and Incentives Reform Act (CITIRA) bill. The law became 
effective on April 11, 2021. 
 
Among the salient provisions of CREATE include changes to the Corporate Income Tax (CIT) as follows: 
 
1. Reduction in CIT rate effective July 1, 2020 for domestic corporations are as follows: 

a. Those with assets amounting to P100,000,000 and below, and with taxable income equivalent to 
P5,000,000 and below will be subjected to a 20% tax rate; and  

b. Those with assets above P100,000,000 or those with taxable income amounting to more than 
P5,000,000 will be subjected to a 25% tax rate.  

2. Effective July 1, 2020 until June 30, 2023, the minimum corporate income tax rate shall be 1%.  
  
Under CREATE, the Company prepared its annual income tax return for the year ended December 31, 2023 
and 2022 using the updated rate of 25%. 
 
The Company used minimum corporate income tax for purposes of the income tax calculation for the taxable 
years 2023 and 2022.  
 
Deferred income tax (DIT) 
 
Details of DIT assets as at December 31 are as follows: 
 

 2023 2022 

Allowance for impairment of other receivables 1,328,734 1,328,734 
MCIT 948,524 278,517 

 2,277,258 1,607,251 
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Under the Tax Reform Act of 1997 (the “Act”), the Company shall pay the Minimum Corporate Income Tax 

(MCIT) or the normal income tax, whichever is higher. Following the enactment of the CREATE law, from July 

1, 2020 to June 30, 2023, the MCIT is 1% (from January 1 to June 30, 2023) and 2% (from July 1, 2023 

onwards) of gross income as defined under the Act. Any excess of the MCIT over the normal income tax shall 

be carried forward annually and credited against the normal income tax for the next three succeeding taxable 

years.  

 

Year of incurrence Year of expiration Tax rate 2023 2022 

2021 2024 1% 82,938 82,938 
2022 2025 1% 195,579 195,579 
2023 2026 1.5% 670,007 - 

   948,524 278,517 

 
The Company did not recognize deferred income tax assets arising from the net operating loss carry-over 
(NOLCO) because management has assessed there will be no sufficient future taxable income against which 
the benefits of these tax assets can be utilized.  
 
The amounts and details of NOLCO and the related unrecognized DIT assets as at December 31 which could 
be carried over as a deduction from taxable income for the next consecutive years are as follows: 
 

Year loss was incurred Year of expiration 2023 2022 

2021 2026  1,062,032   1,062,032  
2022 2025  14,006,478   14,006,478  

  15,068,510  15,068,510  
Applied during the year (1,586,810) - 

 13,481,700 15,068,510 
Applicable tax rate 25% 25% 

Unrecognized DIT asset  3,370,425  3,767,128  

 
Reconciliation of pre-tax income to tax expense   

 
The reconciliation of tax on pretax income computed at the applicable statutory rates to tax (benefit) expense 
follows: 
 

 2023 2022 

Income tax at statutory income tax rate of 25% 2,649,665 1,379,770 
Adjustments for:   

Non-deductible expenses 250  250  
Interest income subjected to final tax (236)  (136) 
Dividend income subject to final tax (717,867) - 
Share in net income of investment in associate (1,535,109)  (4,881,504) 
Tax benefit from applied NOLCO (396,703)  
Unrecognized NOLCO - 3,501,620 

 - - 

 
Critical accounting judgment: Realizability of deferred tax assets 
 
Significant judgment is required in determining the income tax expense recognized in profit or loss. There are 
some transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain in the ordinary course 
of business. The Company recognizes liabilities for anticipated tax assessment issues when it is probable. 
The liabilities are based on assessment and judgment of whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final 
tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will 
impact the Company’s income tax and related liability in the period in which such determination is made.  
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The recognition of DIT assets depends on management’s assessment of the probability and available future 
taxable income against which the temporary difference can be applied. The Company reviews the carrying 
amount of its DIT assets at the end of each reporting period and reduces the amounts to the extent it is no 
longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will allow all or part of its DIT assets to be utilized. Management 
has assessed during the reporting periods that the Company will be able to generate sufficient future taxable 
income against which the temporary differences can be applied, except for NOLCO which is unrecognized. 

 
16 Related party transactions and balances  
 
Transactions and balances with related parties are presented as follows: 
 

 Transactions Balances 

Ref  2023 2022 2023 2022 

Due from related parties - 

 non-current (Note 3)  

 

  

 

Reimbursement of expenses     (a) 

MRTSI - subsidiary 1,319,277 91,242 2,748,736 1,429,459  

MRTHI - investee - - 117,361 117,361  

MRTHII - investee - - 1,649,110 1,649,110  

Dividend receivable      

MRTHII - investee - - 891,036,773 891,036,773 (b) 

 1,319,277 91,242 895,551,980 894,232,703  

Due to a stockholder - FEMI      

(Advances) payments on behalf (2,079,796) 4,793,116 (204,297,487) (702,217,691) (c) 

Debt-to-equity conversion (non-cash) 500,000,000 - - - (c) 

 497,920,204 4,793,116 (204,297,487) (702,217,691)  

Due to other related parties      

Advances      

MGHC Royal - subsidiary 23,737 28,120 (319,024) (342,761) (d) 

MRTHI - investee   (221,939,234) (221,939,234) (e) 

MRTDC - associate (5,769,091) (17,368,999) (18,418,328) (30,918,267) (f) 

Dividend settlement (non-cash)      

MRTDC - associate 18,269,030 14,122,035 - - (f) 

 12,523,676 (3,218,844) (240,676,586) (253,200,262)  

Assignment of MSPSI shares      

FEMI 352,000,000 - - - (g) 

Deposit for future stock subscription      

   FEMI 852,000,000 - 852,000,000 - (g) 

 
(a) Reimbursement of expenses 
 
Receivables from MRTSI, MRTHI and MRTHII represent expenses paid by the Company on their behalf. 
Amounts are unsecured, non-interest bearing, and collectible in cash upon demand, but not expected to be 
collected within 12 months from the end of the reporting period. 
 
(b) Dividend from MRTHII 
 
During the year ended December 31, 2021, MRTHII declared dividends to the Company amounting to 
P2,606,190,497. Details of its settlement are set out in Note 5.1 (c). Dividend receivables are collectible in are 
unsecured, non-interest bearing, and collectible in cash upon demand, but is not expected to be collected 
within 12 months from the end of the reporting period. 
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(c) Due to a stockholder 
 
Due to a stockholder is unsecured, non-interest, and arose mainly from FEMI’s payment of the Company’s 
bank loans, including interests and penalties, aggregating to P3 billion, and the cost of acquisition of shares of 
MRTHII amounting to P180 million.  
 
On November 2, 2018, the Company entered into a Repayment Agreement with FEMI for the repayment of 

advances to the latter. To enable the Company to make its repayments to the extent of P300 million, the 

Company assigns to FEMI for a period of fifteen (15) years commencing on January 30, 2022 and ending on 

January 30, 2034, its receipts from depot royalty income. On April 11, 2019, the BOD of the Company passed 

a resolution approving the Company’s agreement with FEMI that in consideration of FEMI not charging 

interest on the outstanding obligations of the Company, the Company agreed to partially repay the advances 

from FEMI by way of allocating to FEMI dividends and other income from affiliates of the Company in addition 

to the assignment of depot royalties. 

 
Over the years, the amount of liability was reduced mainly through repayments and conversion of FEMI 
advances into equity. There was a net advance for the year amounting to P2,079,796 (2022 - P4,793,116 net 
repayments). In addition, per the execution of the Deed of Assignment with FEMI dated October 10, 2019 and 
the completion of the application on November 2023, P500 million of advances was fully paid through the 
conversion into equity of a portion of FEMI advances to the Company (Note 1; Ref. h below). 
 
FEMI, in its letter of support to the Company, committed not to demand payment of the amount due from the 
Company for a period of at least twelve (12) months from reporting date or until such time that the Company 
has the ability to pay in accordance with the Repayment Agreement above. As the Company has the 
unconditional right to defer settlement of the advances for at least 12 months from reporting date, the amount 
was classified as non-current liability as at December 31, 2023 and 2022. 
 
(d) Advances from MGHC Royal 
 
Outstanding amounts payable to MGHC Royal arose from advances to the Company for settlement of 
outstanding obligations. Amounts are unsecured, non-interest bearing, and are to be offset against the 
Company’s share of future dividends of MGHC Royal, which are not expected to be declared within  
12 months from reporting date, thus, the amount was classified as non-current liability as at  
December 31, 2023 and 2022. 
 
(e) Advances from MRTHI  
 
Outstanding amounts payable to MRTHI arose from advances to Company for settlement of outstanding 
obligations. Amounts are unsecured, non-interest bearing, and are to be offset against the Company’s share 
of future dividends of MRTHI, which are not expected to be declared within 12 months from reporting date, 
thus, the amount was classified as non-current liability as at December 31, 2023 and 2022. 
 
(f) Advances from MRTDC 
 
Outstanding amounts payable to MRTDC arose from advances to Company for settlement of outstanding 
obligations. During the year ended December 31, 2022, MRTDC declared dividends to the Company. This 
resulted in the reduction of the outstanding liability as set out in the details in Note 6. Outstanding amounts 
are unsecured, non-interest bearing, and are to be offset against the Company’s share of future dividends of 
MRTDC, which are not expected to be declared within 12 months from reporting date, thus, the amount was 
classified as non-current liability as at December 31, 2022. 
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(g) Deposit for future stock subscription 
 
On October 10, 2019, FEMI and the Company executed a Deed of Assignment (of Advances) whereby FEMI 
assigned, transferred and conveyed unto the Company the advances of FEMI to the Company in the 
aggregate amount of P500 million in partial payment of FEMI’s P750 million subscription out of the planned 
P3 billion increase in capital stock of the Company (Note 1). This will result to a recognition of a deposit for 
future stock subscription amounting to P500 million which will be applied to new share issuances once the 
SEC approved the increase in capitalization. 
 
Additionally, for the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company recognized a deposit for future stock 
subscription amounting to P352 million as a result of the assignment of MSPSI shares by FEMI (Note 1). 
 
On November 2023, the Company already paid and completed the required filings with the SEC in relation to 
the increase in capitalization. Accordingly, as at reporting date, deposit for future stock subscription totaling 
P852 million is recognized and classified as part of equity in the statements of financial position. 
Subsequently, on February 1, 2024, the SEC approved the increase in the capital stock of the Company from 
P2 billion to P5 billion, divided into 5 billion shares with par value of P1 per share such that the capital stock 
now stood at P5 billion divided into 5 billion shares at par value of P1 per share from the previous P2 billion 
divided into 2 billion shares at par value of P1 per share.   
 
Material related party transactions policy 

 
The Company has an approved material related party transactions policy that sets forth the required 

thresholds for approval for related party transactions as part of the Company’s corporate governance policy. 

 

17 Earnings per share  
 
The following table presents basic and diluted earnings per share (EPS) for the years ended December 31: 
 

 2023 2022 

Consolidated net income of MGHC and subsidiaries 5,697,189  3,513,335 

Divided by weighted average number of shares outstanding  1,998,553,181  1,998,553,181  

Basic and diluted EPS 0.0029 0.0018 

 
The Company has no potential dilutive ordinary shares for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022. 
Therefore, the amounts reported for basic and diluted earnings per share are the same. 
 
18 Segment reporting 
 
Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item reported in the separate financial statements, 
are identified from the financial information provided regularly to the Company’s management for the 
purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing the performance of, the Company. 
 
Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the 
segments have similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature of services and the 
type or class of customers. Operating segments which are not individually material may be aggregated if they 
share a majority of these criteria. 
 
The Company’s management assesses the performance and allocates the resources of the Company as a 
whole, as all of the Company’s activities are considered to be primarily holding infrastructure-related 
investments. Therefore, management considers there is only one operating segment under the requirements 
of PFRS 8, Operating Segments. In this regard, no segment information is presented. 
 
No geographic information is shown as the revenue and profit from operations of the Company are presently 
solely derived from its activities in the Philippines. 
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19 Critical accounting estimates, assumptions and judgments 
 
Estimates, assumptions and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and 
other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances. 
 
The Company makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates 
will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates, assumptions and judgments that 
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within 
the next financial period are enumerated below: 
 
(a) Critical accounting estimates and assumptions 
 

• Recoverability of non-trade receivables and due from related parties (Notes 3 and 16) 

• Measurement of unquoted equity instruments - cost as an estimate of fair value (Note 5) 
 

(b) Critical accounting judgments 
 

• Recoverability of non-trade receivables and due from related parties (Notes 3 and 16) 

• Measurement of unquoted equity instruments - cost as an estimate of fair value (Note 5) 

• Recoverability of investment in associates (Note 6) 

• Income taxes (Note 15) 
 
20 Financial risk management objectives and policies 
 
20.1 Components of financial assets and financial liabilities 
 
Financial assets  
 
Details of the Company’s financial assets as at December 31 are as follows: 
 

 Notes 2023 2022 

At amortized cost    

Cash in banks 2 12,016,578  787,546  

Non-trade receivables 3 24,080,788  18,569,428  

Due from related parties 3 900,866,915  899,547,638  

  936,964,281  918,904,612  

At FVOCI    

Unquoted equity securities 5 3,058,238,916  3,058,238,916  

Quoted equity securities 5  2,092,419  2,981,162  

  3,060,331,335  3,061,220,078  

  3,997,295,616  3,980,124,690  

 
Due from related parties are presented gross of allowance for impairment of P5,314,935 as at  
December 31, 2023 and 2022.  
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Financial liabilities  
 
Details of the Company’s financial liabilities, at amortized cost, at December 31 are as follows: 
 

 Notes 2023 2022 

Advances from MPIC 10 350,000,000  350,000,000  

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities  10 58,352,488  53,062,761  

Due to a stockholder 16 204,297,487  702,217,691  

Due to other related parties 16 240,676,586  253,200,262  

  853,326,561 1,358,480,714 

 
Other current liabilities excluded pertain to payables to government agencies that are non-financial liabilities. 
 
20.2 Financial risk factor 
 
The Company’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks and these activities involve the analysis, 
evaluation and management of some degree of risk or combination of risks. The Company’s overall risk 
management program focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets, aims to achieve an appropriate 
balance between risk and return and seeks to minimize potential adverse effects on the Company’s financial 
performance.  
 
The most important types of risk the Company’s manages are liquidity risk and credit risk. 

 
20.1 .1 Liquidity risk 
 
Liquidity risk arises from the possibility that the Company will encounter difficulty in raising funds to meet 
associated commitments with financial instruments.  
 
The Company manages the liquidity risk by maintaining a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility 
in operations. Treasury controls and procedures are in place to ensure that sufficient cash is maintained to 
cover daily operational and working capital requirements. Management closely monitors the Company’s future 
and contingent obligations and sets up required cash reserves and reserve borrowing facilities as necessary 
in accordance with internal policies. Short-term advances from related parties are availed to cover for 
immediate expenses and maturing obligations. The Company is also able to defer payments of some of its 
due to related party balances.  
 
The Company continues to obtain support from FEMI to finance the Company’s operations. 
 
The table below presents the Company’s financial liabilities as at December 31: 

 

 Within 12 Months More than 12 months Total 

2023    
Advances from MPIC  350,000,000 -  350,000,000  
Accrued expenses 58,352,488 - 58,352,488 
Due to a stockholder - 204,297,487 204,297,487 
Due to related parties - 240,676,586 240,676,586 

 408,352,488 444,974,073 853,326,561 

2022    
Advances from MPIC  350,000,000  -  350,000,000  
Accrued expenses  53,062,761  -  53,062,761  
Due to a stockholder  -     702,217,691   702,217,691  
Due to related parties  -     253,200,262   253,200,262  

  403,062,761   955,417,953   1,358,480,714  

 
The Company expects to settle the above financial obligations due within 12 months in accordance with their 
contractual maturity of 30 to 60 days.  
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20.1.2 Credit risk 
 
Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will cause a financial loss to the Company by failing to 
discharge an obligation. Significant changes in the economy that may represent a concentration in the 
Company’s business, could result in losses that are different from those provided for at reporting date.  
 
Credit risk arises from cash deposits with banks and financial institutions, as well as credit exposure on 
receivable from customers, related parties and other counterparties. The fair values of these financial assets 
approximate net carrying amounts due to their short-term maturities. 
 
The Company has a significant concentration of credit risk on its transactions with NTDCC, its sole customer. 

However, this is brought down to an acceptable level since depot royalties are collected in accordance with 

the agreement and the Company’s credit policy with no reported defaults and write-offs in previous years. In 

addition, credit risk is minimized by monitoring receivables regularly.  

 
The Company has the following financial assets as at December 31 where the expected credit loss model has 
been applied:  
 

 
Gross carrying 

amount 
Allowance 

provided 
Net carrying 

amount 
Internal  

credit rating 

Basis of 
recognition of 

ECL 
2023      
Cash in banks 12,016,578 - 12,016,578 Performing 12-month ECL 
Non-trade receivables 

 
Group 1 

 
24,080,788 - 

 
24,080,788 

Collective 
assessment Lifetime ECL 

Due from related parties      
Group 2 895,551,980 - 895,551,980 Performing 12-month ECL 
Group 3 5,314,935 (5,314,935) - Credit impaired Lifetime ECL 

  936,964,281 (5,314,935) 931,649,346   

2022      
Cash in banks 787,546 - 787,546 Performing 12-month ECL 
Non-trade  receivables      

Group 1 18,569,428 - 
 

18,569,428 
Collective 

assessment Lifetime ECL 
Due from related parties      

Group 2  894,232,703  -  894,232,703  Performing 12-month ECL 
Group 3  5,314,935  (5,314,935) - Credit impaired Lifetime ECL 

   918,904,612  (5,314,935) 913,589,677   

 
Credit quality of customers are classified as follows: 
 

• Group 1 - Customer and counterparty balances without history of default and assessed to be fully 
recoverable.  

• Group 2 - Customer and counterparty balances with some defaults in the past. Amounts are largely 
collectible after collection efforts. 

• Group 3 - Individually assessed customer with defaults and which the Company no longer expects to 
recover the balance despite its collection efforts. 

 
The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying value of financial assets summarized 
above. 
 
None of the fully performing financial assets have been renegotiated during the years ended  
December 31, 2023 and 2022. The Company does not hold any collateral as security to the above financial 
assets. 
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Credit quality of the Company’s financial assets 
 
Cash in banks 
 
To minimize credit risk exposure from its cash account, the Company deposits its cash in universal banks that 
have good credit ratings. Accordingly, the Company’s cash in bank is subject to insignificant expected credit 
loss as at reporting dates. 
 
Receivables 
 
Group 1 - The Company’s receivables under Company 1 consists of amounts due from NTDCC have no 
history of recent default or write-off and are considered to be fully performing. Accordingly, no provision for 
impairment is required. 
 
Group 2 - Past due but not impaired receivables consist of amounts due from related parties, who, despite 
delays in collection based on the credit term, are deemed to be fully collectible based on management’s 
assessment and counterparties’ financial capacity and creditworthiness. Accordingly, no provision for 
impairment is required at reporting date.   
 
Group 3 - The Company records a provision for impairment of receivables that are assessed to have a 
significant probability of becoming uncollectible. The assessment is based on the Company’s knowledge of 
the collectability of the account, nature of dispute and the creditworthiness of the customer.  
 
20.1.3 Foreign currency exchange risk 
 
Foreign currency exchange risk arises when future commercial transactions or recognized assets or liabilities 
are denominated in a currency that is not the Company’s functional currency. 
 
The Company has net transactional currency gain. Such exposure is not material to the Company as this 
arises mainly from immaterial cash balances denominated in US Dollar. 
 
20.3 Capital risk management 
 
The Company manages its capital to ensure that the Company will be able to continue as a going concern, 
while maximizing the return on investments of stockholders. The Company monitors its use of capital by 
comparing deficit to total capitalization and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions 
and its financial position. 
 
The Company considers its long-term debt from FEMI and other related parties, as well as total equity 
consisting of share capital, additional paid-in capital, deposit for future stock subscription, and retained 
earnings, as its capital: 
 

 Notes 2023 2022 

Equity    
Share capital 11 1,998,553,181  1,998,553,181  
Additional paid-in capital   589,120,803  589,120,804  
Deposit for future stock subscription 16 852,000,000 - 
Retained earnings   60,950,886  50,352,225  

  3,500,624,870  2,638,026,210  

Debt    
Due to a stockholder 16 204,297,487   702,217,691  
Due to related parties 16 240,676,586  253,200,262  

  444,974,073  955,417,953  

  3,945,598,943 3,593,444,163 
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21 Summary of material accounting policies 
 
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below. 
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated. 

 
21.1 Basis of preparation  
 
The separate financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with Philippine 
Financial Reporting Standards (PFRS). The term PFRS in general includes all applicable PFRS, Philippine 
Accounting Standards (PAS), and interpretations of the Philippine Interpretations Committee (PIC), Standing 
Interpretations Committee (SIC) and International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) 
which have been approved by the Financial and Sustainability Reporting Standards Council (FSRSC) and 
adopted by the SEC. 
 
These separate financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention except for 
financial assets at FVOCI. 
 
The preparation of separate financial statements in conformity with PFRS requires the use of certain critical 
accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgment in the process of applying the 
Company’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or areas 
where assumptions and estimates are significant to the separate financial statements are disclosed in  
Note 19. 
 
The Company has also prepared consolidated financial statements in accordance with PFRS. In the 
consolidated financial statements, undertakings of Metro Global Holdings Corporation and its subsidiaries 
have been fully consolidated. The consolidated financial statements can be obtained from the Company’s 
business address in Mezzanine Floor, Renaissance Centre, Meralco Ave., Pasig City or from the SEC. 
 
Users of these separate financial statements should read these together with the Group’s consolidated 
financial statements as at December 31, 2023 and 2022 and for each of the three years in the period ended 
December 31, 2023 in order to obtain full information on the financial position, results of operations and 
changes in financial position of the Group as a whole. 

 
21.2 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures 
 
New standards, amendments and interpretations adopted 
 

• PAS 1 and PFRS Practice Statement 2: Making Materiality Judgments - Disclosure of Accounting Policies 

The amendments require entities to disclose their material rather than their significant accounting policies. 
The amendments define what is ‘material accounting policy information’ and explain how to identify when 
accounting policy information is material. They further clarify that immaterial accounting policy information 
does not need to be disclosed. If it is disclosed, it should not obscure material accounting information.  

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2023. The 
Company adopted the amendment and updated the disclosures of material accounting information.  
 
There are no other new standards, amendments and interpretations which are effective for the financial 
year on or after January 1, 2023 that are relevant to and have a material impact on the Company’s 
separate financial statements. 
 

21.3 Financial assets  
 
Classification  
 
The Company classifies its financial assets in the following measurement categories: (a) those to be 
measured subsequently at fair value (either through OCI or through profit or loss), and (b) those to be  
measured at amortized cost. The classification depends on the Company’s business model for managing the 
financial assets and the contractual terms of the cash flows.  
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The Company holds financial assets at fair value through OCI (Note 5). 
 
Financial assets at amortized cost are assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where those 
cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest. The Company’s financial assets at amortized 
cost category includes cash in banks (Note 2), non-trade receivables (Note 3), and due from related parties 
(Notes 3 and 16). 
 
The Company classifies the following investments as financial assets at FVTPL:  
 

• investments in equity securities unless irrevocably elected at initial recognition to be measured at  
fair value through OCI;  

• investments in debt instruments held within a business model whose objective is to sell prior to  
maturity or has contractual terms that does not give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are  
solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI) on the principal amount outstanding, unless  
designated as effective hedging instruments under a cash flow hedge;  

• investments that contain embedded derivatives; and  

• investments in debt instruments designated as financial assets at FVTPL at initial recognition.  
 
The Company did not hold financial assets at FVTPL. 
 

Recognition and subsequent measurement  
 
The Company recognizes a financial asset in the statement of financial position when the Company becomes 
a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 
 
All financial instruments are initially measured at fair value plus or minus, in the case of a financial asset or 
financial liability not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the 
acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried at FVTPL are expensed in profit 
or loss.  
 
Subsequently, assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent 
solely payments of principal and interest are measured at amortized cost. Interest income from these financial 
assets is recognized using the effective interest rate method.  
 
Changes in the fair value of financial assets at FVOCI are recognized in other comprehensive income. 
 

The Company assesses whether the cost is the best estimate of fair value of financial assets at FVOCI. In 
making the assessment, the Company checks whether there are events or circumstances that might indicate 
that cost might not be representative of fair value of the financial assets, including significant change in the 
investees’ performance and operations, as well significant change in the economic environment in which the 
investees operate. The Company also considers costs as the best measure of fair value where more recent 
available information is insufficient to determine fair value; or where there is a wide range of possible fair 
value measurements, and cost represents the best estimate of fair value within that range. 
 
Impairment  
 
The Company assesses on a forward-looking basis the expected credit losses (ECL) associated with its 
financial assets carried at amortized cost. The impairment methodology applied depends on whether there 
has been a significant increase in credit risk. Impairment losses are presented within other expenses, net in 
the statement of total comprehensive income.     
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Loss allowances of the Company are measured on either of the following bases:  
 

• 12-month ECL: these are ECL that result from default events that are possible within the 12 months after 
the reporting date (or for a shorter period if the expected life of the instrument is less than  
12 months); or  

• Lifetime ECL: these are ECL that result from all possible default events over the expected life of a 
financial instrument or contract asset.  

 
Simplified approach  
 
The Company applies the simplified approach to provide for ECL for all non-trade receivables. The simplified 
approach requires the loss allowance to be measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECL. The expected loss 
rates are based on the payment profiles of customers and the corresponding historical credit losses 
experienced. The historical loss rates are adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking information on 
macroeconomic factors such as gross domestic product and inflation rate affecting the ability of the customers 
to settle the receivables.  
 
General approach  
 
Under the general approach, the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to 12-month ECL at initial 
recognition.  
 
At each reporting date, the Company assesses whether the credit risk of a financial instrument has increased 
significantly since initial recognition. When credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition, loss 
allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECL.  
 
When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since initial 

recognition and when estimating ECL, the Company consider reasonable and supportable information that is 

relevant and available without undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative information 

and analysis, based on the Company’s historical experience and informed credit assessment and includes 

forward-looking information.  

 
The Company considers a financial asset to be in default when the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit 
obligations to the Company in full, without recourse by the Company to actions such as realizing security  
(if any is held).  
 
The maximum period considered when estimating ECL is the maximum contractual period over which the 
Company is exposed to credit risk.  
 
Measurement of ECL  
 
The measurement of expected credit losses is a function of the probability of default, loss given default (i.e. 
the magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment of the probability 
of default and loss given default is based on historical data adjusted by forward-looking information as 
described above. As for the exposure at default, for financial assets, this is represented by the assets’ gross 
carrying amount at the reporting date.  
 
Credit-impaired financial assets  
 
At each reporting date, the Company assesses whether financial assets carried at amortized cost are credit 
impaired. A financial asset is ‘credit-impaired’ when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the 
estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred.  
 
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following observable data:  
 

• significant financial difficulty of the counterparty;  

• a breach of contract such as a default; or  

• it is probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganization.  
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Write-off  
 
The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off (either partially or in full) to the extent that there is 
no realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally the case when the Company determines that the debtor 
does not have assets or sources of income that could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts 
subject to the write-off. However, financial assets that are written off could still be subject to enforcement 
activities in order to comply with the Company’s procedures for recovery of amounts due.  
 
Derecognition  
 
Financial assets are derecognized when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have 
expired or have been transferred and the Company has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition is recognized directly in the statement of total 
comprehensive income and presented in other income (expenses).  
 
21.4 Financial liabilities  
 
Classification  
 
The Company classifies its financial liabilities as: (i) financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, and 
(ii) other financial liabilities measured at amortized cost. Financial liabilities under category (i) comprise of two 
sub-categories: financial liabilities classified as held for trading and financial liabilities designated by the 
Company as at fair value through profit or loss upon initial recognition. Management determines the 
classification of its financial liabilities at initial recognition.  
 
The Company did not hold financial liabilities under category (i) during and at the end of each reporting period.  
 
Other financial liabilities at amortized cost are contractual obligations which are either those to deliver cash or 
another financial asset to another entity or to exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with another 
entity under conditions that are potentially unfavorable to the Company. These are included in current 
liabilities, except for maturities greater than 12 months after the reporting period which are classified as  
non-current liabilities.  
 
The Company’s other financial liabilities at amortized cost consist of accrued expenses and other current 
liabilities (excluding withholding tax payable and payable to government agencies) (Note 10), due to a 
stockholder (Note 16), and due to other related parties (Note 16).  
 
Recognition and measurement  
 
The Company recognizes a financial liability in the statement of financial position when, and only when, the 
Company becomes a party to the contractual provision of the instrument.  
 
Other financial liabilities at amortized cost are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs. 
Subsequently, these are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method.  
 
Derecognition  
 
Other financial liabilities at amortized cost are derecognized when the obligation is paid, settled, discharged, 
cancelled or has expired. 
 
21.5 Determination of fair value 
 
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. 
 
The fair value of financial and non-financial liabilities takes into account non-performance risk, which is the 
risk that the entity will not fulfill an obligation. 
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The Company classifies its fair value measurements using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance 
of the inputs used in making the measurements. The fair value hierarchy has the following levels:  
 

• quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1);  

• inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either 
directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (Level 2); and  

• inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs) 
(Level 3). 

 
The appropriate level is determined on the basis of the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement. 
 
The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets is based on quoted market prices at the 
reporting date. A market is regarded as active if quoted prices are readily and regularly available from an 
exchange, dealer, broker, industry group, pricing service, or regulatory agency, and those prices represent 
actual and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s length basis. The quoted market price used for 
financial assets held by the Company is the current bid price. These instruments are included in Level 1. The 
Company’s quoted financial assets at FVOCI are under this category. 
 
The fair value of assets and liabilities that are not traded in an active market (for example, 
over-the-counter derivatives) is determined by using valuation techniques. These valuation techniques 
maximize the use of observable market data where it is available and rely as little as possible on entity 
specific estimates. If all significant inputs required to fair value an instrument are observable, the asset or 
liability is included in Level 2. If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on observable market data, 
the asset or liability is included in Level 3. The Company’s unquoted financial assets, pertaining to 
investments in MRTHI and MRTHII, are under Level 3 fair value category. The cost of the investments 
represents the best estimate of the fair value of the investments as at reporting date (Note 5).  
 
Specific valuation techniques used to value financial instruments include: 
 

• Quoted market prices or dealer quotes for similar instruments. 

• The fair value of interest rate swaps is calculated as the present value of the estimated future cash flows 
based on observable yield curves. 

• The fair value of forward foreign exchange contracts is determined using forward exchange rates at the 
reporting date, with the resulting value discounted back to present value. 

• Other techniques, such as discounted cash flow analysis, are used to determine fair value for the 
remaining financial instruments. 

 
The carrying amounts of financial instruments presented as part of current assets and current liabilities as at 
December 31, 2023 and 2022 approximate their fair values due to their short-term maturities.  
 
The fair values of due from related parties, due to a stockholder and due to other related parties amounted to 
P817,913,483 (2022 - P780,248,186), P186,586,232 (2022 - P615,424,152), and P219,811,501  
(2022 - P221,604,519), determined using discounted cash flow approach by applying current market interest 
rates of 5.89% (2022 - 5.42%) (Level 2), based on the expected settlement of the amounts by the end of the 
BLT Agreement in July 2025. 
 
The Company has no other financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value during and at the end of each 

reporting date. 
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Non-financial assets 
 
For non-financial assets, the Company uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances 
and applies the technique consistently. Commonly used valuation techniques are as follows: 
 

• Market approach - A valuation technique that uses prices and other relevant information generated by 
market transactions involving identical or comparable (i.e., similar) assets, liabilities or a group of assets 
and liabilities, such as a business. 

• Income approach - Valuation techniques that convert future amounts (e.g., cash flows or income and 
expenses) to a single current (i.e., discounted) amount. The fair value measurement is determined on the 
basis of the value indicated by current market expectations about those future amounts. 

• Cost approach - A valuation technique that reflects the amount that would be required currently to replace 
the service capacity of an asset (often referred to as current replacement cost). 

 
The fair value of a non-financial asset is measured based on its highest and best use. The carrying value of 
the Company’s non-financial assets, substantially property and equipment, approximate its fair value in the 
light of the assets’ current use is presumed to be its highest and best use. 
 

21.6 Offsetting financial instruments 
 
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statements of financial position 
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognized amounts and there is an intention to settle on 
a net basis, or realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.  
 
The legally enforceable right must not be contingent on future events and must be enforceable in the normal 
course of business and in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the Company or the counterparty. 
The Company does not have financial assets and liabilities that are covered by enforceable master netting 
arrangements and other similar agreements. 
 
21.7 Non-trade receivables 
 
Non-trade receivables arising from depot royalties with an average credit term of 60 days are recognized at 
transaction price and subsequently measured at amortized cost using effective interest method less any 
provision for impairment. 
 
Other receivables are recognized initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortized cost using 
effective interest method, less any provision for impairment. 
 
Non-trade receivables and its related provision for impairment are written off when the Company has 
determined that the receivable is uncollectible as they have already exerted all collection efforts, including filing 
a legal case. Bad debts written off are specifically identified after exhausting all collection efforts  
(i.e. sending demand letters and legal notice of default to customers) and are approved by the BOD.  
 
Write-offs represent either direct charge against profit or loss at the time the receivable deemed uncollectible 
or the release of previously recorded provision from the allowance account and credited to the related 
receivable account following the Company’s assessment that the related receivable will no longer be collected 
after all collection efforts have been exhausted.  
 
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written-off are credited in profit or loss under general and 
administrative expenses. Reversals of previously recorded impairment provision are recognized in profit or 
loss based on the result of management’s update assessments, considering available facts and changes in 
circumstances, including but not limited to results of recent discussions and arrangements entered into with 
customers as to the recoverability of receivable at reporting date. 
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21.8 Investment in associate 
 
Associates are all entities over which the Company has significant influence but not control, generally 
accompanying a shareholding of between 20% and 50% of the voting rights (Note 6). 
 
Investments in associates are accounted for using the equity method of accounting. Under the equity method, 
the investment is initially recognized at cost, and the carrying amount is increased or decreased to recognize 
the investor’s share of the profit or loss of the investee after the date of acquisition. It is also decreased by 
dividends received from the investee. The Company’s investment in associates includes goodwill identified on 
acquisition. Any excess of the Company’s share of the net fair value of the associate’s identifiable assets and 
liabilities over the cost of the investment is included as income in the determination of the Company’s share of 
the associate’s profit or loss in the period in which the investment is acquired. 
 
If the ownership interest in an associate is reduced but significant influence is retained, only a proportionate 
share of the amounts previously recognized in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss 
where appropriate. 
 
The Company’s share of its associates’ post-acquisition profits or losses is recognized in profit or loss, and its 
share of post-acquisition movements in other comprehensive income is recognized in other comprehensive 
income. The cumulative post-acquisition movements are adjusted against the carrying amount of the 
investment. When the Company’s share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the 
associate, including any other unsecured receivables, the Company does not recognize further losses, unless 
it has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate. 
 
Dilution gains and losses arising in investments in associates are recognized in profit or loss. Unrealized gains 
on transactions between the Company and its associates are eliminated to the extent of the Company’s 
interest in the associates. Unrealized losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of 
an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of associates have been changed where 
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Company. 
 
21.9 Investment in subsidiaries 
 
A subsidiary is an entity which is controlled by the Company. The control means that the Company can 
govern the financial and operating policies of its subsidiaries to gain benefits from the operations of 
subsidiary. The Company controls an investee if and only if the Company has all the following: 
 
(a) power over the investee; 
(b) exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and 
(c) the ability to use its power over the investee to affect the amount of the investor’s returns. 
 
Investment in subsidiaries is accounted for using the cost method. Under this method, investments are 
recognized at cost and income from investment is recognized in profit or loss only to the extent that the 
investor receives distribution from accumulated profits of the investee arising after the acquisition date. 
Distributions received in excess of such profits are regarded as a recovery of investment and are recognized 
as reduction of the cost of the investment. 
 
Investment in subsidiary is derecognized when the rights to receive cash flows from the investments have 
expired or have been transferred and the Company has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of 
ownership.  
 
The Company determines at each reporting date whether there are impairment indicators relating to 
investment in the subsidiaries. If this is the case, the Company calculates the amount of impairment as the 
difference between the recoverable amount of the subsidiary and its carrying value and recognizes any 
impairment loss in profit or loss. 
 
Investments in subsidiaries are carried at cost, less any provision for impairment.  
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21.10 Intangible assets 
 
Intangible assets acquired separately are carried at cost. Following initial recognition, intangible assets are 
carried at cost less any accumulated amortization in the case of intangible assets with finite lives, and any 
accumulated impairment losses.  
 
The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite. 
 
Intangible assets with finite lives are amortized over the remaining useful economic life at the date of 
acquisition or business combination. These are assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that 
the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortization period and method for an intangible asset with a finite 
useful life is reviewed at the end of each reporting date.  
 
The Company’s intangible asset, pertaining to depot royalty rights, was assigned with a useful life of  
33 years commencing from 2014 up to 2047 or the expiration of the development rights (Note 9). 
 
Changes in the expected useful life or the expected pattern of consumption of future economic benefits 
embodied in the asset is accounted for by changing the amortization period or method, as appropriate, and 
treated as changes in accounting estimates. The amortization of intangible assets with finite lives is 
recognized in profit or loss in the expense category consistent with the function of the intangible asset. 
 

21.11 Impairment of non-financial assets 
 
Non-financial assets that have definite useful lives are subject to depreciation or amortization and reviewed for 
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be 
recoverable.  
 
An impairment loss is recognized for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its 
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less cost to sell and value 
in use. For the purpose of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are 
separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units). Value in use requires the Company to make 
estimates of future cash flows to be derived from the particular asset and discount them using a pre-tax 
market rate that reflects current assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. 
 
Impairment losses, if any, are recognized in profit or loss within other expenses in the statement of total 
comprehensive income. Non-financial assets that have been impaired are reviewed for possible reversal of 
the impairment at each reporting period. When impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of 
the assets or cash-generating unit is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but the 
increased carrying amount should not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no 
impairment loss has been recognized for the asset or cash-generating unit in prior years. Reversals of 
previously recorded impairment provisions are credited against provision account in profit and loss.  
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21.12 Deposit for future stock subscription 
 
Deposit for future stock subscriptions refer to the amount of money or property received by the Company with 
the purpose of applying the same as payment for future issuance of stocks which may or may not materialize. 
Deposit for future stock subscriptions cannot be considered as part of the capital stock of the Company until 
shares of stocks are actually issued in consideration thereof. 
 
On May 11, 2017, SEC issued an amendment on SEC Bulletin No. 6 (issued in 2012) for the treatment of the 
deposit for future stock subscriptions. As stated, an entity shall classify a contract to deliver its own equity 
instruments under equity as deposit for future stock subscriptions if and only if, all of the following elements 
are present as of the end of the period: 
 

i. The unissued authorized capital of the entity is insufficient to cover the amount of shares 
indicated in the contract; 

ii. There is BOD approval on the proposed increase in authorized capital stock (for which a deposit 
was received by the corporation); 

iii. There is stockholders' approval of said proposed increase in authorized capital stock; and 
iv. The application for the approval of the increase in capital stock has been presented for filing or 

has been filed with the SEC. 
 

If any or all of the foregoing elements are not present, the transaction should be recognized as part of liability. 
The amount of deposit for future stock subscriptions will be reclassified to equity account when the Company 
meets the foregoing elements.  

 
21.13  Provisions and contingencies 
 
Provisions are recognized when the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past 
events, it is more likely than not that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation and the 
amount can be reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognized for future operating losses. 
 
Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is 
determined by considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognized even if the likelihood 
of an outflow with respect to any one item included in the same class of obligations may be small. 
 
Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the 
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessment of the time value of money and the 
risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due to passage of time is recognized in profit or 
loss. 
 
Provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. If 
it is no longer probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the 
obligation, the provision is reversed and derecognized in the statement of financial position. 
 
Provisions are derecognized when the related legal or contractual obligation is discharged, cancelled or 
expired. 
 
Probable inflows of economic benefits that do not yet meet the recognition criteria of an asset are considered 
contingent assets, hence, are not recognized in the financial statements.   
 
Contingent liabilities are not recognized in the financial statements. They are disclosed unless the possibility 
of an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is remote. A contingent asset is not recognized in the 
financial statements but disclosed when an inflow of economic benefits is probable. 
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21.14 Revenue recognition 
 
Revenue is measured based on the transaction price specified in a contract with the customer. The Company 
recognizes revenue when it transfers control over a product or service to a customer. 
 
The following is a description of principal activities from which the Company generates its revenue. 
 
Depot royalty income 
 
The amount of royalty income is recognized over time as NTDCC earns rental income from the TriNoma 
commercial center. The use of a time-based approach (output method) best provides a faithful depiction of the 
transfer of services to the customer given the nature of the royalty arrangement. 
 
Dividend income 
 
Dividend income is recognized at the point in time when investees have declared dividends. 
 
Other income 
 
Other income is recognized when earned.  
 
Interest 
 
Revenue is recognized on a time-proportion basis using the effective interest method. 
 
21.15 Cost and expense recognition 
 
Costs and expenses in the statement of total comprehensive income are presented using the function of 
expense method. 
 
21.16 Employee benefits 
 
(i) Short-term benefits  
 
Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as the  
related service is provided.  
 
A liability is recognized for the amount expected to be paid under short-term cash bonus if the Company has 
present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service provided by the  
employee and the obligation can be estimated reliably. 
 

(ii) Retirement benefits 

 
The Company has yet to adopt a formal retirement plan for the benefit of its qualified employees. Under RA 
No. 7641, in the absence of a retirement plan or agreement providing for retirement benefits of employees in 
the private sector, an employee upon reaching the age of 60 years or more, but not beyond 65 years, who has 
served at least 5 years in a private company, may retire and shall be entitled to retirement pay equivalent to at 
least one-half month salary plus one twelfth of the 13th month pay and cash equivalent of not more than 5 
days of service incentive leaves for every year of service (or 100% of monthly salary), a fraction of at least 6 
months being considered as one whole year. 
 
The liability recognized in the statement of financial position in respect of defined benefit retirement plans is 
the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the end of the reporting period. The defined benefit 
obligation is calculated annually by independent actuaries using the projected unit credit method. The present 
value of the defined benefit obligation is determined by discounting the estimated future cash outflows using 
interest rates of government bonds that are denominated in Philippine Peso, the currency in which the 
benefits will be paid, and that have terms to maturity approximating the terms of the related retirement 
obligation. 
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Remeasurements arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions are charged or 
credited in other comprehensive income in the period in which they arise. 
 
Past-service costs are recognized immediately in profit or loss. 
 
The net interest cost is calculated by applying the discount rate to the balance of the defined benefit 
obligation. This cost is included in employee benefit expense in profit or loss. 
 
(iii) Termination benefits 
 
Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated by the Company before the normal 
retirement date, or whenever an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for these benefits.  
 
The Company recognizes termination benefits when it is demonstrably committed to either:  
(a) terminating the employment of current employees according to a detailed formal plan without possibility of 
withdrawal; or (b) providing termination benefits as a result of an offer made to encourage voluntary 
redundancy. Benefits falling due more than 12 months after the reporting date are discounted to present 
value. 
 
21.17 Related party relationships and transactions 
 
Related party relationship exists when one party has the ability to control, directly or indirectly through one or 
more intermediaries, the other party or exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial 
and operating decisions. Such relationship also exists between and/or among entities which are under 
common control with the reporting enterprise, or between, and/or among the reporting enterprise and its key 
management personnel, directors, or its shareholders. In considering each possible related party relationship, 
attention is directed to the substance of the relationship, and not merely the legal form.  
 
21.18 Current and deferred income tax 
 
The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the 
end of the reporting period. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to 
situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions where 
appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.  
 
DIT is recognized on all temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their 
carrying amounts in the financial statements. DIT is determined using tax rates and laws that have been 
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period and are expected to apply when the 
related DIT asset is realized or the deferred income tax liability is settled.  
 
DIT assets are the amounts of income taxes recoverable in future periods in respect of all deductible 
temporary differences. DIT assets are recognized to the extent it is probable that future taxable profit will be 
available against which the temporary differences can be utilized. DIT liabilities are the amounts of income 
taxes payable in future periods in respect of taxable temporary differences.  
 
DIT assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against 
current tax liabilities and when the DIT assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation 
authority where there is an intention to settle the balances on a net basis. 
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21.19 Earnings per share 
 
Basic EPS is computed by dividing net income attributable to common stock by the weighted average number 
of common shares outstanding, after giving retroactive effect for any stock dividends, stock splits or reverse 
stock splits during the period, if any.  
 
Diluted EPS is computed by dividing net income attributable to common shareholders by the weighted 
average number of common shares outstanding during the period, after giving retroactive effect for any stock 
dividends, stock splits or reverse stock splits during the period, and adjusted for the effect of dilutive 
convertible preferred shares. If the required dividends to be declared on convertible preferred shares divided 
by the number of equivalent common shares, assuming such shares are converted, would decrease the basic 
EPS, then such convertible preferred shares would be deemed dilutive. Where the effect of the assumed 
conversion of the preferred shares have anti-dilutive effect, basic and diluted EPS are stated at the same 
amount. 
 
21.20 Subsequent events 
 
Subsequent events that provide additional information about the Company’s position at the financial  
reporting date (adjusting events) are reflected in the financial statements. Subsequent events that are not 
adjusting events are disclosed in the notes to financial statements when material. 
 

22 Supplementary information required by the Bureau of Internal Revenue (BIR) 
 
The following information is presented for purposes of filing with the BIR and is not a required part of the basic 
financial statements. 
 
On December 28, 2010, Revenue Regulation (RR) No. 15-2010 became effective and amended certain 
provisions of RR No. 21-2002 prescribing the manner of compliance with any documentary and/or procedural 
requirements in connection with the preparation and submission of financial statements and income tax 
returns. Section 2 of RR No. 21-2002 was further amended to include in the Notes to Financial Statements 
information on taxes, duties and license fees paid or accrued during the year in addition to what is mandated 
by Philippine Financial Reporting Standards. 
 

Below is the additional information required by RR No. 15-2010.  
 
(i) Output value-added tax (VAT) 
 
Output VAT declared for the year ended December 31, 2023 and the revenues upon which the same was 
based consist of: 
 

 Tax base VAT 

Vatable sales 40,130,494 4,815,659 

 
The gross amount of revenues as shown above is based on gross receipts of the Company while the 
revenues shown in the statement of total comprehensive income is recognized and measured in accordance 
with the Company’s accounting policy on revenue recognition (Note 21.14). 
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(ii) Input VAT  
 
Movements in input VAT for the period ended December 31, 2023 are as follows: 
 

  Amount 

Beginning balance  236,090 
Add: Current period’s domestic purchases/payments for:   

 Goods other than Capital Goods  11,360 
 Domestic purchase of services  307,755 

Total input VAT for the year  555,205 
Application against output VAT   (555,205) 

Total input VAT  - 

 
(iii) Importations 
 
There were no importation transactions made for the year ended December 31, 2023. 
 
(iv) Documentary stamp taxes 
 
There were no documentary stamp taxes paid for the year ended December 31, 2023. 
 
(v) All other local and national taxes 
 
All other local and national taxes paid for the year ended December 31, 2023 consist of: 
 

Business permit, clearance and licenses 1,515,642 
Registration 500 
Others 12,190 

  1,528,332 

 
The above local and national taxes are lodged under taxes and licenses account in general and administrative 
expenses (Note 13). 
 
(vi) Withholding taxes 
 
Withholding taxes accrued and paid as at and for the period ended December 31, 2023 follow: 
 

 Paid Accrued Total 

Withholding tax on compensation  4,741,364 1,235,337 5,976,701 
Expanded withholding tax 350,036 110 350,146 

 5,091,400 1,235,447 6,326,847 

 
Withholding taxes payables above are presented as part of accrued expenses and other current liabilities in 
the statement of financial position (Note 10). 
 
(vii) Tax assessments 
 
The Company has no outstanding tax assessments from the BIR as at December 31, 2023.  

 
(viii) Tax cases 
 
The Company does not have outstanding tax cases under preliminary investigation, litigation and/or 
prosecution in courts or bodies outside of the BIR as at December 31, 2023.  




